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Chairman Statement

ERHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present
the audited results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
to the shareholders.

In the past year, amid the turbulent geopolitical developments
and the sluggish global economic recovery, posing uncertainties
to the energy market. Under the weak and complex business
environment, the Group's business faced hefty challenges.

During the financial year, the Group recorded gross amounts from
operations (“turnover”) of approximately RMB7,447 million (2022:
approximately RMB7,902 million), representing a decrease of 5.8%.
The loss after tax of approximately RMB28 million (2022: profit of
approximately RMB96 million).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has to incur a
substantial amount of impairment losses of approximately RMB151
million on the carrying amounts of assets in relation to a non-
wholly owned subsidiary (“Huaheng Energy”) in the sales of piped
gas business segment as a result of the suspension of business
operation due to pending the issue of the renewed operation
permit, details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
28 June 2023. The Company will consider all available options and
put all effort to have the issue resolved with Huaheng Energy able
to recommence its business.

In the context of achieving carbon peak and carbon neutrality
("Dual Carbon”), China will continue to implement policies to
encourage the development of low-carbon green energy which
will further push forward the growth of natural gas consumption.
As China's carbon neutrality target has been further reinforced,
efforts have been made to accelerate the development of low-
carbon energy structure. In the context of the trend of the clean
energy, the increasing demand for a shift from “coal to gas”, it is
clearly that natural gas will be one of the dominant energy sources
in the energy consumption market, in which the Group operates.
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Chairman Statement
FEHE

Seizing opportunities in the transformation of the energy structure
and the development of the clean energy sector, the Group has
continued to optimize the cost and business structures and to seek
and explore the expansion of its LNG distribution channel through
proposed collaboration with industry player(s) and/or state-owned
enterprises; foster strategic cooperation with global renowned oll
and gas supplier to facilitate the trading business of the Group
and sought to further expand collaboration with quality end users
of nature gas.

Looking ahead, the management is mindful of the market
environment and will continue to adopt cautionary steps in and
implementing various strategies to mitigate the adverse impact on
the business arising from challenges as in this market condition.
Moreover, the Group will continues to develop its business in
natural gas sector and to explore new business opportunities in
order to create value for its shareholders.

On behalf of the board, | would like to extend my sincere gratitude
to our shareholders and business partners for their continuing
support. | would also like to express my appreciation to our
management team and all staff for their outstanding contributions
and hard work over the past year.

Wang Jianqing
Chairman
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Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group Financial Review

AEB2EHER W& D% E B

BUSINESS REVIEW

Group results

For the year ended 31 March 2023 and at present, the Group has
been principally engaged in (i) trading of oil and gas products and
the provision of related consultancy services; and (ii) processing,
distribution, sales, trading and transportation of LNG and other
auxiliary operations and networks in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded gross
amounts from operations of approximately RMB7,447 million
(2022: approximately RMB7,902 million) with loss after tax of
approximately RMB28 million (2022: profit of approximately RMB96
million). The Group's performance for the year ended 31 March
2023 was contributed mainly by the production and sales of LNG
(as further elaborated under the section headed “Production and
sales of LNG").

Production and sales of LNG

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group produced
approximately 455 million cubic meters of LNG, representing
a decrease of approximately 67 million cubic meters or 12.8%
compared with the last year. The revenue from the sales of LNG for
the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately RMB1,551 million
representing a decrease of approximately RMB80 million or 4.9%
compared with the last year, contributing approximately 20.8%
of the total turnover of the Group. Gross profit of the segment,
decreased by approximately RMB35 million to approximately
RMB169 million (2022: approximately RMB204 million), gross profit
margin, decreased from approximately 12.5% to approximately
10.9%. With the growing gap between LNG consumption and
domestic production, coupled with the substantial increase in
domestic gas prices, has led to a significant increase in the average
selling prices of LNG. However, as the purchase cost of natural gas
surged simultaneously due to the high and volatile of the import
gas prices, the gross profit margin for the production and sales of
LNG eventually declined.
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Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group Financial Review

AEB2ERER WK 2 A 5 E B

Sales of piped gas and construction of gas pipeline
infrastructure

During the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue arising from sales
of piped gas and related services decreased to approximately
RMB365 million from approximately RMB662 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB297 million or 45% compared
with the last year, contributing approximately 4.9% of the total
turnover of the Group. Gross profit of the segment, however,
turned negative to a gross loss of approximately RMB8 million
(2022: gross profit of approximately RMB14 million), as a result of
the termination of the sales of piped gas in August 2022 due to
expiry of the gas operation permit, details of which is set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 28 June 2023 in relation
to the operation suspension of a subsidiary in the sales of piped
gas business by which only five months contribution of revenue
from the sales of piped gas operation segment was recorded for
the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared to twelve months
contribution for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Oil and gas transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2023, gross amounts of oil and
gas sales contracts decreased to approximately RMB5,501 million
from approximately RMB5,528 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB27 million or 0.5% compared with the last year,
contributing approximately 74% of the total turnover of the Group.
Gross profit of the segment, increased to approximately RMB85
million from approximately RMB74 million, gross profit margin
increased from approximately 1.3% to 1.5%.

At present, there are still uncertainties in the trend of international
oil and gas prices. The management will continue to adopt
cautionary steps while seeking for profitable trading opportunities.

Prospect

Looking ahead, affected by the geopolitical turmoil, energy
prices fluctuate at high level, causing an impact on short-term
energy supply. Under the effective measures imposed by the PRC
government, the fundamentals for the long-term improvement of
China economy will remain unchanged.

Along with the steady recovery of the domestic economy
and a clear low-carbon goal, the PRC government persists in
preventing and controlling pollution with full force, being resolute
in promoting clean production in enterprises, and steadily
implements coal-control objectives in key regions, and as a result
the demand of natural gas will maintain steady growth. The
Group expects that such policies in the natural gas market would
be conducive to the market environment, in which the Group
operates.
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Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group Financial Review
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The management is mindful of the market environment and
will continue to adopt cautionary steps and implement various
strategies to mitigate the adverse impact on the business arising
from challenges as in this market condition. Looking forward, the
Group will continue to develop its businesses in natural gas sector
and to explore new business opportunities in order to create value
for its shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

The Group's turnover for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately RMB7,447 million (2022: approximately RMB7,902
million). The decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the
decrease in sales of piped gas of which reported a turnover of
approximately RMB352 million during the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: approximately RMB654 million).

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
RMB252 million (2022: approximately RMB302 million). The
decrease in gross profit was primarily due to termination of the
sales of piped gas during the year ended 31 March 2023. The
Group's gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2023
decreased from approximately 3.8% (year ended 31 March 2022)
to approximately 3.4%.

Other Income
Other income for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately RMB3 million (2022: approximately RMB3 million).

Other Gains and Losses

For the year ended 31 March 2023, other gains, net was
approximately RMB54 million (2022: net losses of approximately
RMB18 million). The increase was mainly due to benefit from the
net foreign exchange gains which was approximately RMB54 million
as compared net losses of approximately RMB24 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group Financial Review
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Impairment Loss of Property, Plant and Equipment
and Intangible Asset

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded
impairment loss of property, plant and equipment and intangible
asset of approximately RMB151 million (2022: Nil). As mentioned
in aforesaid section, upon the expiry of the piped gas operation
permit, the Group could not recognize any income and
corresponding profits of piped gas segment. Accordingly, the
Group performed impairment assessment on the relevant cash-
generated unit and recognised impairment loss.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately RMB86 million (2022:
approximately RMB84 million), representing an increase of
approximately 2.7% as compared to the previous year.

Finance Costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB75 million
during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately RMB78
million), representing a decrease of approximately 3.2%. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in average balance of
bank and other borrowings and guaranteed notes during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group is subjected to taxes in Hong Kong and the PRC due
to its business operations in these jurisdictions. For the year ended
31 March 2023, income tax expenses of the Group approximately
RMB22 million (2022: approximately RMB26 million).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
As at 31 March 2023, the Group maintained bank balances and
cash of approximately RMB72 million (2022: approximately RMB123
million). The net current assets of the Group as at 31 March
2023 were approximately RMB1,026 million (2022: approximately
RMB796 million). The current ratio was approximately 1.47
(2022: approximately 1.43). As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
borrowings of approximately RMB1,119 million which are due
within one year and guaranteed notes of approximately RMB157
million. The gearing ratio, which is debt-to-equity ratio, of the
Group was approximately 0.86 as at 31 March 2023 compared to
approximately 0.74 as at 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group Financial Review
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Capital Expenditure on Property, Plant and
Equipment
Capital expenditure for purchase of property, plant and equipment

amounted to approximately RMB33 million (2022: approximately
RMB33 million) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had pledged assets in an
aggregate amount of approximately RMB600 million (2022:
approximately RMB461 million) to banks for banking facilities.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material capital
commitments.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group issued financial guarantee to the
bank in respect of a bank loan obtained by an associate of RMB19.5
million (2022: RMB19.5 million) representing the amount that could
be required to be paid if the guarantee was called upon in entirety

by the bank.

Treasury Policy

The Group mainly operates in China with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB, HK Dollar and US Dollar. The
exposure of exchange fluctuation in respect of RMB and HK/
US Dollar could affect the Group's performance and asset value.
However, there are no liquidity problems resulting from currency
exchange fluctuations. The Group does not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes but will continue to closely
monitor the overall currency exposures.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital
Assets

The Group did not have any plan for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 March 2023.

Employee Information

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had about 330 employees (2022:
about 390). The remuneration packages are generally structured
with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages of the Group's employees are normally
reviewed on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and
other relevant factor.
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Corporate Governance Report
TXERHRE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed
to maintain good corporate governance standard and procedures
to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in
order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
on Corporate Governance Practices ("CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the
year ended 31 March 2023, save for the deviations discussed below.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to
ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed
to maintaining and developing robust corporate governance
practices from top to down within the Group and reinforced across
all departments.

The execution and enforcement of the Company’s corporate
governance system is monitored by the Board with regular
assessments and procedures are in place to enable the
shareholders to evaluate how the principles of corporate
governance have been applied. The Board will continuously review
and improve the corporate governance practices and standards
of the Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

CORPORATE CULTURE

“To achieve ultimate perfection with a heart of ultimate
benevolence” is our finally definition for the corporate culture
of the Company. Meanwhile, our objective is to emerge as a
leading sustainable clean energy group in China. In response
to the national low-carbon development strategy, we insist on
an innovation-driven and accelerate our green and low-carbon
transformation efforts, while promoting usage of clean energy
and actively fulfill our corporate social responsibility. The core
values set out by the Board of the Company will give guidance
for the ethics and behaviors of employees, business and activities,
ensuring that these values are intertwined with our vision, mission,
policy and business strategy of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions (the “Model Code"”). Having made
specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the directors of
the Company have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board is made up of five Directors,
including two executive Directors, and three independent non-
executive Directors (the "INEDs"”). The Directors are, collective
and individually, aware of their responsibilities to the shareholders.
One of the INEDs possesses appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise. The Directors’
biographical details are set out in the section of “Biographical
Details of Directors” on pages 32 to 34.

The Board members during the year ended 31 March 2023 and as
at the date up to this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jianging (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Bao Jun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Tom Xie

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year
at approximately quarterly intervals in addition to other Board
meetings that are required for significant and important issues, and
for statutory purposes. Appropriate and sufficient information is
provided to the Board members in a timely manner to keep them
abreast of the Group's latest development and thus assist them in
discharging their duties.

During the year, the Board held eight meetings, one of the
meetings was only held between the Chairman and independent
non-executive directors, and the attendance of the directors at
the Board Meetings for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out
as below:

Name of Directors

EEE

RABEAY BEFEHAREFHEK &
TERENERTEER BB UIFNITE
EZ(BIFATEE]) - EEHKRARERNT
REARRAAEZEE - Ebh— %8
VHRTESHRAEECEXEGAHERK
MBEREBEXRNHE EFZBEEFBIR
ERNEMAZIEEREFB] & -

HE_Z_=F=A=+—HLEFEREZRE
AHmERMzZEEFEXNER:

PITES
IRBERE(FRHETHAR)
RE LA

BAFBITES
2EAEL
&2 %
AR L

BHRBARBEEEKEUALEEBEOMET
CEMEEE RN EFEBFELE
TOREERH G KHWEBFHT K-
EEeRERERERBERRRZE
B AERETRASB &M ER K
MBEREEBTHERE -

FRG-EBEFECLRT/\RERE AP —RE
FRERETRMBIFERTESZHET
MREZ-_T_=F=A=+—HILFEX
EEHFESE A BRI WT:

Number of attendance/
Number of Meetings

EESHa HERS EHIH
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wang Jianging FTRERE

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFETHAHAR) 8/8
Mr. Bao Jun REXLE 7/7
Independent Non-executive Directors BIABITES
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming RGAE L 8/8
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BZREE 8/8
Mr. Tom Xie HEE L E 8/8
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

The Board reserves its decision on all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-
executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard
of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance
in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

Directors have received the meeting agenda for decision and
relevant meeting documents prior to each Board meeting. All
Directors received adequate information, which is accurate,
clear, complete and reliable, in a timely manner and are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings. All Directors have the
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings.

Board minutes are recorded in appropriate details and draft
minutes are circulated to all directors and committee members
for comments before being approved by the Board at the next
immediate meeting. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection by the directors. The Board
has access to the services of the Company Secretary at any time
and has liberty to seek external professional advice if needed at
the Company’s expense.
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The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and oversees the Group's business, strategic decisions and
financial performance. The Board directly, and indirectly through
its committees, leads and provides direction to management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place. The Board delegates to the management team the
day-to-day management of the Company’s business including the
preparation of annual and interim reports, and for implementation
of internal control, risk management system, business strategies
and plans developed by the Board.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship with each other except those
disclosed in the director biographical details.

MECHANISMS FOR ENSURING INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AND INPUT

The Company is committed to ensuring independent views and
input are available to the Board and has established mechanisms
to ensure all Directors can express their views in an open manner.
Such mechanisms include: (i) three out of the five Directors are
independent non-executive Directors, which is in compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must have at least
three independent non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors appointed must represent at least one-
third of the Board; (i) the Nomination Committee will assess the
continued independence of independent non-executive Directors on
an annual basis and all independent non-executive Directors have to
confirm in writing their compliance of independence requirements
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; (iii) the Chairman of the
Board shall at least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other directors to
discuss any issues and concerns; (iv) Directors have the right to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company's expense; and (v) Directors are encouraged to access
and consult with the Company’s senior management independently.
The implementation and effectiveness of these mechanisms will be
reviewed on an annual basis by the Board.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting of the
Company, notwithstanding that every Director shall be retired at
least once every three years.
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Dr. Leung Hoi Ming was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company for more than nine years
since January 2010. Dr. Leung has not been involved in the
daily management of the Company nor in any relationships or
circumstances which would impair his independent judgment.
Dr. Leung has made an annual confirmation of independence to the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
has assessed the independence of Dr. Leung and considered he
meets the independence guideline set out in the Listing Rules.
The Company is satisfied that, taking into account, inter alia, the
valuable independent judgement, advice and objective views
contributed by Dr. Leung over his tenure, he is of such character,
integrity and experience commensurate with office of independent
non-executive director and remain independent notwithstanding
his length of service.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company for more than nine years
since January 2010. Mr. Wong has not been involved in the
daily management of the Company nor in any relationships or
circumstances which would impair his independent judgment.
Mr. Wong has made an annual confirmation of independence
to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has assessed the independence of Mr. Wong and
considered he meets the independence guideline set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company is satisfied that, taking into account,
inter alia, the valuable independent judgement, advice and
objective views contributed by Mr. Wong over his tenure, he is of
such character, integrity and experience commensurate with office
of independent non-executive director and remain independent
notwithstanding his length of service.

Mr. Tom Xie was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company for more than nine years since January
2010. Mr. Xie has not been involved in the daily management
of the Company nor in any relationships or circumstances which
would impair his independent judgment. Mr. Xie has made an
annual confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has assessed
the independence of Mr. Xie and considered he meets the
independence guideline set out in the Listing Rules. The Company
is satisfied that, taking into account, inter alia, the valuable
independent judgement, advice and objective views contributed
by Mr. Xie over his tenure, he is of such character, integrity
and experience commensurate with office of independent non-
executive director and remain independent notwithstanding his
length of service.
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According to the code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code under
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, if an independent non-executive
director has served more than 9 years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders.

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that all directors
appointed to fill causal vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.
On the other hand, paragraph 4(2) of Appendix 3 of the Listing
Rules provides that such directors are to hold office until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election at that meeting. As mentioned in the
annual report for FY2006, the Board decided to leave the existing
Bye-laws unchanged given the inconsistencies in the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Wang is the chairman of the Company since 27 January 2011
and was appointed the chief executive officer ("CEQ") of the
Company on 15 September 2011. He is responsible for managing
the Board and the business of the Group.

Under the CG Code, the roles of chairman and CEO should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The Board considers that Mr. Wang possesses the essential
leadership skills to manage the Board and extensive knowledge in
the business of the Group. The present structure is more suitable
to the Company because it can promote the efficient formulation
and implementation of the Company's strategies. Through the
supervision of the Board and the audit committee, balance of
power and authority can be ensured and there is no imminent need
to change the arrangement.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Group. Every director is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements and were provided with comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction upon appointment. Directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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During the year under review and up to the date of this Annual
Report, relevant materials including regulatory updates have been
provided to the directors for their reference and study.

Name of Directors

REBEFEREEARAFRAM L Eﬂ%
%?ET#EQAEE*%ﬁ%E*”*ifEF%TZﬂ PAREA
E2ERBE -

Type of Training (Note)

EEna 3 3l 48 B (Bt =)
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Wang Jianging FRELEE B
Mr. Bao Jun RELEAE B
Independent non-executive Directors BIUFPITES
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming RGAEL B
Mr. Wong Chi Keung | E A&B
Mr. Tom Xie SEELEE B
Note: B 5
Types of Training: HAIE A
A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, expert briefings, A EEEEETRMEIRENE HIg g
seminars, conferences and workshops &M TIED FEIIRRE
B: Reading relevant newspaper, journals, magazines and relevant publications B: HMEFERE  B7 - MIFZREEDRY
BOARD COMMITTEES EEETZEE
The Board has established three committees with clearly- EFetNUY=AZEE  WABBEWR
defined written terms of reference. The independent view and EoEEBESGRE =ZHEZE® B YE
recommendations of the three committees ensure proper control RREBRERER *E‘:S?? S ANEERFE
of the Group and the continual achievement of the high standard BERRKEZREEREM
corporate governance practices.
Remuneration Committee FMES
As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee (the EA$$E¢EHH yMZEE® (Hﬁ@” g8gl)
"RC") comprises three Independent non-executive directors, HEBBIFNTESHEK  PRIRRE

namely, Dr. Leung Hoi Ming, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Tom
Xie.

The duties of the RC as per the terms of reference were as follows:

1. to formulate remuneration policy for approval by the Board,
which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries
paid by comparable companies, employment conditions, and
responsibilities, and individual performance of the directors
and senior management. Performance shall be measured
against corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time; and implement the remuneration policy
laid down by the Board, if any;

AL FEeREERHHEFLELE

REBRESRE FMZEGZBAEWT:
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MEBRAEZEEBAZ  BREEER
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REFSHENHFMER(WA)
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to consult the chairman and/or chief executive about their
remuneration proposals for other executive directors. The
remuneration committee should have access to independent
professional advice if necessary;

without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing:

(a)

make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors’ and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration;

review and approve the management’s remuneration
with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

determine with delegated responsibility the
remuneration packages of individual
directors and senior management of the Group,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

executive

make recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration of non-executive directors;

consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it
is determined in accordance with relevant contractual
terms and otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

determine the criteria for assessing employee's
performance, which should reflect the Company's
business goals, objectives and targets;
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(i) to ensure that no director or any of his associate is
involved in deciding his own remuneration;

()  engage external professional advisors to assist and/or
advise the Committee on issues if necessary;

(k) do any such things to enable the Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by
the Board;

() conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board
or contained in the constitution of the Company or
imposed by legislation;

(m) exercise such other powers, authorities and discretion,
and perform such other duties, of the directors
in relation to the remuneration as the Board may
from time to time delegate to it, have regard to the
Corporate Governance Code of the Listing Rules; and

(n)  advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any
service contracts of directors that require shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules as amended from time
to time.

The RC has every right to access to professional advice relating
to remuneration proposal if considered necessary. The RC has
reviewed the remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up to award
employees and Directors based on their performance,
qualifications, competence displayed and market comparable
companies. A remuneration package typically comprises salary,
contribution to pension schemes, performance bonuses and
share option. The remuneration of the Directors is recommended
by the Remuneration Committee and is decided by the Board,
having regard to the prevailing market practice, the Company’s
remuneration policy and the employee’s seniority, experiences and
their duties and responsibilities with the Group.

() TREFNESHEEMBEA
THR2EBEASNFHMH:

() HEZEERREFTENFHEI
EEXER - MEZESRMHE
E/RER:

k) EREFRTHEZESAET
EEQE TR LB

) FTEREFSTHEERARFMAE
A =12 T B P E XSOE B B
PITE ORI ESK - FER MARP

(m) REEFSTHZRER EHH
AMEREARATANRERE
BT BEETREE MR
7 BERBIEE YETHE
(2R3

(n)  REBETEEITZ EHRRAFRRR
2 A0 ] B ] R ERAS AR R 4t
ENEZERBEEHETROR -

ERB/ULAZERT  HFMEZEEH#E
FZRSKEXER FHEZESCERE
HEEREMRERAB ZHMBUR -

%7 BN B 3R
AEENFHBRKREERBERERESEN
RE-BE  FRAMNGEIRTSAE LR
RERBEEBNEE -FMHEFE-—RER
e RARSFEHR  RRIEARBK
B-EESHFHaFMNEEeRE LTHE
EEREBERITMHED - AR H B
BELEBENERE K£RANBENAE
BOBBRBERRE -

TFRRTIERERAF] 2023 FIR 17



Corporate Governance Report

®

XEARME

The RC has held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2023 to discuss and approve the Directors’ and management'’s
remuneration for the year and to review and discuss the
remuneration policy and propose to the Board for adoption of the
remuneration policy. The attendance of the members is as follows:

Name of Members

BHE_T-_=F=-A=+—BILFE M
ZEECRIT—XRed AwmhtEES
REBBRAFEZHM  BHEI R
MBRALERETSRMAFTHERE - KB
HEBRMT

Number of attendance/
Number of Meetings

RE A HERE EEARE
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming RGAEL 1/1
Mr. Wong Chi Keung (Chairman) BRI E(EE) 1/
Mr. Tom Xie L E 1/1

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee (the "AC")
comprises three Independent non-executive directors, namely,
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Tom Xie.

The principal duties of the AC include:

(a)

18

to be responsible for making recommendations to the board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

to review with the group’s management and external auditor,
the adequacy of the group’s policies and procedures
regarding internal controls (including financial, operational
and compliance controls), risk management system and any
statement by the directors to be included in the annual
accounts prior to endorsement by the board,;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard. The Committee should
understand the factors considered by the external auditors
in determining their audit scope, and should discuss with
the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commencement. The
external auditors’ fees is to be negotiated by management,
and presented to the Committee for review and approval
annually;
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to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm
or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party
knowing all relevant information would reasonably conclude
to be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally.
The Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;

to review the Company’s financial information and to
monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.
In reviewing these reports before submission to the Board,
the Committee should focus particularly on:

(i)  any changes in accounting policies and practices;
(i) major judgmental areas;
(iii)  significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v}  compliance with accounting and auditing standards;
and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

with regard to (e) above:

(i) members of the Committee should liaise with the Board
and senior management, and the Committee must
meet, at least twice a year, with the external auditor;
and

(i) the Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company's staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;
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to review the Company's financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company's risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with the management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems, including the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;
where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company,
and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

to review arrangements by which employees of the
Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The Committee should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the fair and independent
investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;
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to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the Company’s relation with the external auditor, and to
evaluate the cooperation received by the external auditors,
including their access to all requested records, data and
information; obtain the comments of management regarding
the responsiveness of the external auditors to the Group's
needs; inquire of the external auditors as to whether there
have been any disagreements with management which if not
satisfactorily resolved would result in the issue of a qualified
report on the group’s financial statements;

to obtain from the external auditors annually information
about policies and processes for maintaining independence
and monitoring compliance with relevant requirements,
including provision of non-audit services and requirements
regarding rotation of audit partners and staff;

to discuss with the external auditors any recommendations
arising from the audit (if necessary in the absence of
management);

to meet with the auditor, at least once a year, in the absence
of management to discuss matters relating to its audit fees,
any issue arising from the audit and any other matters the
auditor may wish to raise;

to the engagement of the external auditors to perform non-
audit services is in general prohibited except for tax-related
services. If a compelling reason exists to engage the external
auditors due to their unique expertise in a particular area,
the prior approval of the Committee is required,;

to review and consider the findings of internal investigations
and management’s response into any suspected frauds or
irregularities or failures of internal controls or infringements
of laws, rules and regulations;

to agree with the Board the Company’s policy relating to
the hiring of employees or former employees of the external
auditors and monitor the applications of such policy. The
Committee shall consider whether as a result of such hiring
there has been any impairment of the auditor’s judgment or
independence in respect of an audit;

to report to the Board on the above matters; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.
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The AC is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity and
seek any information it requires within its term of reference. It
is also authorized to obtain outside legal or other independent
professional advice and to invite the attendance of outsiders with
relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

Reporting to the Board of Directors of the Company, the AC is
dedicated to review and supervise the Group's financial reporting
process and internal controls. The financial results for the year
ended 31 March 2023 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The AC conducts at least two regular meetings a year in addition
to other meetings that are required for significant and important

issues, and for statutory purposes.

The AC has held three meetings during the year ended 31 March
2023 and the attendance of the members is as follows:

Name of Members
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N

Number of attendance/
Number of Meetings

RElA EREEiERE
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming RGAE L 3/3
Mr. Wong Chi Keung (Chairman) BB E(EE) 3/3
Mr. Tom Xie HEFESE 3/3

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the AC had reviewed
the Company's annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023
and the interim report for the six months ended 30 September
2022. The AC had also reviewed the risk management report on
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
and effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group.

The AC had reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, the external auditor’s audit plan and terms
of engagement for the work performed.

The AC had reviewed and discussed the anti-corruption policy, the

whistleblowing policy and shareholders communication policy and
proposed to the Board for adoption of the policies.
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Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee (the “NC")
comprises Mr. Wang Jianging, the chairman and the executive
director of the Company and two Independent non-executive
directors, namely, Dr. Leung Hoi Ming, Mr. Wong Chi Keung.

The duties of the NC as per the terms of reference were as follows:

(a)

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, qualifications, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.
Sufficient biographical details of nominated candidates shall
be provided to the Board and/or shareholders to enable
them to make an informed decision;

to make recommendations to the Board the appointment or
re-appointment of directors of the Company and succession
planning for directors of the Company in particular the
chairman and the chief executive of the Company;

to identify and nominate candidates to fill casual vacancies
of directors for the Board's approval;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors of the Company;

to do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge
its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed by
legislation.

Nomination Policy
The Board has established a nomination policy, a summary of which
is as follows:

1.

Stipulate the duties of the Nomination Committee, including
nominating suitable director candidates for the Board;

Determine the selection criteria and procedures for the
appointment and re-appointment of directors;
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3. Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the industry,
independence, the ability to assist and support management
and reputation for integrity are the factors that need to be
considered when appointing directors;

4. Commit to achieve a diversified composition of the Board in
respect of gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and experience,
and length of service and assess the diversity status of the
Board every year;

5. Make recommendations on succession planning for directors;
and
6. From time to time review this nomination policy, as

appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of this policy.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Company has established a board diversity policy, a summary of
which is as follows:

1. Set out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board of the
Company; and

2. In determining the composition of the Board, the Company
considers the diversity of the Board from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments are
based on meritocracy.

Final decisions of appointing directors to be made by the Board
will be based on each candidate’s attributes and contributions
to be made to the Board. The Nomination Committee monitors
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, reviews the
Board Diversity Policy as and when appropriate and recommends
any revisions for the Board's approval. The NC is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if needed.

During the vyear, the Board, via the Nomination Committee,
conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the board diversity policy and is satisfied that
the board diversity policy has been properly implemented and is
effective.
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Gender Diversity

As at the date of this report, all Board members are males.
The Board will take the opportunity to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board appointments
to ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved
with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international
and local recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of
bringing the Board to gender parity.

In order to achieve gender diversity on the Board level, the Board
will appoint at least one female Board member no later than 31
December 2024.

In striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations
are used when recruiting and selecting senior management and
general staff. As of 31 March 2023, a 4:1 male to female gender
ratio, being a measurable objective for gender diversity, has been
achieved in the workforce (including senior management). Further
information about the composition of the Group’s workforce can
be found in the "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
which will be published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange separately.

The NC has held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2023 to discuss and review the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and the nomination policy and the board diversity policy
and to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of Directors. The attendance of the members is as
follows:

Name of Members
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Mr. Wang Jianqing TRERE 1/1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

— To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

— To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

— To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the financial statements are in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standard. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of
the Group.

The Statement of external auditors of the Company, SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statement of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 50 to 59.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 March 2023, fees payable to the auditor of
the Group for audit services was approximately RMB943,000.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance structure,
policies and procedures, as well as a reporting mechanism to
facilitate the Group to manage it risks across business operations.

The Group has established the risk management organizational
framework, which comprises of the Board, the audit committee
and the risk management group. The Board will assess and
determine the nature and extent of risks acceptable for the Group
in fulfilling its strategic goals, and will ensure the establishment
and maintenance of appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems by the Group. The Board will also
supervise the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems by the management.

The Group has also formulated and adopted the enterprise risk
management system, which provides effective policy procedures
to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks. The risk
management group will, at least once in a year, identify risk
exposures that may affect the realization of the Group's business
target, assess and rank the risks through a standard mechanism,
formulate a risk mitigation plan and identify staff held accountable
for the risks, enabling the Group to make rational allocation of
resources to cope with the major risks.

Furthermore, the Group has established internal audit function, so
as to help the Board and the audit committee to constantly monitor
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
identify defects in the design and operation of the internal control
and put forward proper remedies. Serious defects identified in the
internal control will be reported to the audit committee and the
Board promptly, and efforts will be made to formulate the remedial
plan and identify the staff to be held accountable. In addition,
timely follow-up will be carried out to ensure improvement of the
situation.

Risk management report and internal audit report will, at least on a
yearly basis, be submitted to the audit committee for review before
submission to the Board for final approval. The Board has conducted
annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls including changes in
the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks) since
the last annual review, the ability of the Group to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment, the scope and quality
of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks)
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and the internal control system, the work of internal audit function,
the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results
to the Board, significant control failings or weaknesses that have
been identified during the period and the relevant impacts, as well
as the effectiveness of the Group's processes for financial reporting
and Listing Rules compliance, and confirmed the effectiveness and
adequacy of the existing risk management and internal control systems.

The above-mentioned risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage but not to eliminate the risk of
failing to fulfill the business target. Therefore, these systems can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that there will
not be material misstatement or loss.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICIES

To adhere to practicing integrity and responsible business ethics,
the Group has established Anti-Corruption Policy which provides
information and guidances to all business units and employees
of the Group on how to recognize and deal with corruption
and bribery and to handle corporate donation and sponsorship
activities of the Group. In terms of whistleblowing policy, we
actively encourage employees, customers, suppliers and partners
to report any suspected behaviours that are against business ethics
and illegal behaviours, with all reported cases being investigated
in a rigorous and timely manner. Details of the anti-corruption and
whistleblowing policies can be found in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” which will be published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange separately.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

In accordance with the requirements of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules, the inside information
should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable after
such information comes to our attention, unless it falls within the
Securities and Futures Ordinance safe harbours. The Group will
ensure the confidentiality of such information before full disclosure
of such information to the public. Where the Group considers
it impossible to maintain confidentiality as required, or the
information may have been divulged, the Group will disclose such
information to the public in no time. However, the Group will make
sure that the information contained in the announcement is not
false or misleading as to a material fact, or is false or misleading
due to the omission of a material fact, enabling the public to obtain
inside information in an equal, timely and effective manner.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wan Oi Ming Kevin is the Company Secretary of the Company.
He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong,
a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 March 2023
and is in compliance with Rules 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to C.6.2 of the CG Code, the appointment of the
company secretary should be dealt with by a physical board
meeting rather than a written resolution. The appointment of the
current company secretary was dealt with by a written resolution in
September 2013. The Board considers that, prior to the execution
of the written resolution to appoint the current company secretary,
all Directors were individually consulted on the matter without any
dissenting opinion and there was no need to approve the matter
by a physical board meeting instead of a written resolution.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

To enhance transparency and effectively communicate with
shareholders and investors, the Company has adopted the
shareholders’ communication policy with the objective of ensuring
that the shareholders and investors are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to non biased and understandable information
about the Company (including the financial performance, strategic
goals and plans, material developments, governance and risk
profile). The Company also recognises the importance of timely
disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains its
website at http://www.yuanhenggas.com as one of communication
channel for the shareholders and investors. Up-to-date information
on the Company's business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available on the Company’s website for public access. Latest
information of the Group including annual and interim reports,
announcements and other corporate communications which will be
sent to shareholders and/or published are updated on the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website in a timely fashion. For any enquiries, the shareholders, the
investors, media or the public may contact the Company directly,
contact details of which are posted on the Company’s website.
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The Board and the Company maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders mainly through the Company’s financial reports,
annual general meeting and other general meetings.

Pursuant to F.2.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Wang Jianging, the
Chairman of the Board and Mr. Bao Jun, the executive Director
of the Company, were unable to attend the 2022 annual general
meeting of the Company held on 26 September 2022 (the “2022
AGM") in person due to the travel restrictions arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic, but attended via telephone. However, Mr.
Wong Chi Keung, an independent non-executive Director, had
taken the chair of the 2022 AGM in accordance with the bye-laws
of the Company. Mr. Wong was of sufficient calibre and knowledge
for communication with the shareholders at the 2022 AGM.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy during the year. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication mentioned above, the Company
is satisfied that the shareholders’ communication policy was implemented
properly and remains effective.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company held an

annual general meeting. The attendance of the directors at the
meeting was as follows:

Name of Directors

BEESRNARREZEBARRMBHRE
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BEER -
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BHERRBFAG BEFGXIFIEE
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Aﬁﬁ B RITRR &) TR BE 3R & I E A

ARARZEZZFNLAZF+AAEBRTH_Z
TIFRRBFEFRG(ZE__FRREF
AE)) HBBEELE - A - BILIEH
TEEHZRLEBREBEAQTNDQE 4
BlFEFH T -_—_FRRBAFRE - \HEESR
EHEE ﬂ&ﬂ%ﬁ_g::iﬁﬁﬁi
Re FHEKRERETER

RAARIERAFEANRTBEBABEEKD
EREREKS - EEH LMZEERE

B O ARREERIEBERAHRREINEE
B WRBBAR -

BHE_T-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE XA
RIBITT—ARERFAS EFHFSHE
BT

Number of attendance/
Number of Meetings
HERY, EiEXE

EEME

Mr. Wang Jianging TRERE

Mr. Bao Jun REXE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAEPITES
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming 2BAELT

Mr. Wong Chi Keung BZRAE

Mr. Tom Xie AL

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has developed a dividend policy in the interest of
shareholders. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio. In considering the dividend payout,
the Board will make decisions with reference to the Group's
performance and financial position, results of operation and level
of cash; statutory and regulatory restrictions; future prospects
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant. The
Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company to the extent that the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserve for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, the Company has adopted the amended and
restated Bye-laws as its constitutional documents. For details,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 23 August 2022
and the poll results announcement dated 26 September 2022
respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting
by shareholders

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so
in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, either any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting
to which the requisition relates; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders may make requisition in writing to the Company:

(a) to give to shareholders of the company entitled to receive
notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;

(b)  to circulate to members entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand (1,000) words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquires to the board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquires to the Company by post or
delivery to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Room 4102, 41/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jianqing

Mr. Wang, aged 54, has extensive experience and business
network in the energy and trading industry. Mr. Wang obtained
his Bachelor's degree in Industrial Management Engineering
from Zhenjiang Shipbuilding College (now known as the Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology).

Mr. Wang was the chairman and executive director of FU JI Food
and Catering Services Holdings Limited (now known as Fresh
Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Ltd.) (stock Code: 1175)
(retired on 24 September 2014). He is also the general manager of
Guangzhou Circle Energy Company Ltd.

Mr. Wang is a cousin of Mr. Bao Jun, an executive director of the
Company.

Mr. Bao Jun

Mr. Bao, aged 55, has over 20 years of experience in project
investment, construction and operation management. He obtained
his bachelor degree in Engineering from Jiangnan University
(formerly known as Wuxi Polytechnic University) in 1989. Mr. Bao
joined Guangdong Light Industry Design Institute as an engineer
from 1989 to 2000 and was responsible for the research and
development of the manufacturing technique of various biological-
engineering and chemical engineering projects such as the design
and management of amino acids production plant and brewery.

Mr. Bao is a cousin of Mr. Wang Jianging, the Chairman and an
executive director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming

Dr. Leung Hoi Ming, aged 55, has extensive knowledge and
experience in risk management of financial instruments, treasury
business and financial derivative products. He has served DBS
Bank for eight years and was Senior Vice President in the Treasury
and Markets Division upon his departure from the bank on 22 May
2009. Dr. Leung started his career in the finance industry in 1996
with Citibank as quantitative analyst in the Equity Derivatives Asia
Department. He had served a few other financial institutes before
joining DBS Bank Ltd as a financial product specialist as well and
had held various roles in business development, trading and risk
management.
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Dr. Leung, a native Hong Kong citizen with Chinese nationality,
holds a Bachelor (First Class Honours) degree of Science (1990)
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master degree of
Science in Mathematics (1993) and a Doctor degree of Philosophy
in Mathematics (1996) from the California Institute of Technology,
and a Master degree of Science in Investment Management (1999)
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

He also has been in the position of independent non-executive
director for Daisho Microline Holdings Limited (stock code: 567)
since 30 April 2021.

He was also an independent non-executive director of Fresh
Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (In Liquidation) (formerly
known as FU JI Food and Catering Services Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 1175 and subsequently withdrawn from listing from
9:00 am on 9 February 2023) from 8 July 2013 to 13 December
2021.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Wong, aged 68, holds a Master’'s degree in Business
Administration from the University of Adelaide in Australia. He
is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and CPA Australia; an associate member of Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators) and The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong was also a Responsible Officer for asset
management and advising on securities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong was an executive director, the deputy general manager,
group financial controller and company secretary of Yuexiu
Property Company Limited (formerly known as Guangzhou
Investment Company Limited) (stock code: 123), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, for over ten years. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Asia Orient Holdings
Limited (stock code: 214), Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited
(stock code: 292), Asia Standard International Group Limited (stock
code: 129), Century City International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 355), China Ting Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 3398),
Changyou Alliance Group Limited (formerly known as Fortunet
e-Commerce Group Limited) (stock code: 1039), Golden Eagle
Retail Group Limited (stock code: 3308), Paliburg Holdings Limited
(stock code: 617), Regal Hotels International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 78) and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1176), all of these companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Wong has over 40 years of experience in finance, accounting
and management. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Guoan International Limited (stock code: 143) from
13 April 2021 to 9 June 2021, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Tom Xie
Mr. Xie, aged 73, has years of management experience with a Hong
Kong listed company.

Mr. Xie obtained a Master of Science degree and a Master's
Graduation Certificate in Gemology, both from China University of
Geosciences (Beijing) in 2012.

Mr. Xie has been appointed as executive director and chief
executive officer of Domaine Power Holdings Limited (formerly
Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited) (stock code: 442) from 8
November 2021 and 1 December 2021 respectively, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Xie was appointed as non-executive director of Hifood Group
Holdings Co., Limited (now known as Domaine Power Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 442) from 9 July 2021 to 8 November 2021
and China Investment Development Limited (stock code: 204)
from 20 September 2019 to 29 September 2020, and independent
non-executive director of U-Right International Holdings Limited
(now known as Fullsun International Holdings Group Co., Limited)
(stock code: 627) from 29 August 2013 to 1 December 2017, all of
these companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Mr. Xie enjoys extensive business and political connections and is
familiar with PRC's political, economic and business environment
and retail market. He is a member of the 7th and 8th Committee of
Tianhe District of Guangzhou, China People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the Permanent Honorary Chairman of the Confederacy
of Hong Kong Shanwei Clansmen Limited, and the Honorary
President of Hong Kong Gold and Silver Jewelry Industry and
Commerce Association.
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Directors’ Report
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The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out
in note 49 and note 20 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group's future business development and an analysis
of the Group's performance during the year using key financial
performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman Statement”
on pages 2 to 3 and the “Management Discussion and Analysis
of the Group Financial Review” on pages 4 to 8 of this Annual
Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The capital risk management and financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in notes 40 and
41 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 155 to 170
of this Annual Report.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
During the year ended 31 March 2023, as far as the Company is
aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Environmental protection

The Group understands that its business has an impact on
the environment and recognises the importance of sound
environmental management practices and sustainable business
operations. It is committed to comply with the relevant
environmental standards and policies related to its business
operations as set by the government in People's Republic of China
("PRC”) and Hong Kong.

For more details regarding the Company’s environmental policies
and practices, please refer to the "Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which will be published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange separately.
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Relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers
and business associates are key stakeholders to the Group's
success. It strives to achieve corporate sustainability through
engaging its employees, providing quality products and services
to its customers, collaborating with business partners (including
suppliers and contractors) to deliver quality products and services
and supporting our community.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules will be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
separately.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 60 to 61.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s authorised, issued and fully paid
share capital are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

There is no reserve available for distribution to shareholders as at
31 March 2023.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at end of the year.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Wang Jianging
Mr. Bao Jun

Independent non-executive directors:
Dr. Leung Hoi Ming

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Tom Xie

In accordance with Article (84) of the Company’s Bye-laws, one
third of directors for the time being shall retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
securities (the “Listing Rules”) and considers all the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the directors and chief executive of the
Company had the following interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (b)
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers).

EERTETHAERKRE - H
ARk REEEZEZR XS

RZEZ=ZF=ZA=+—H ARAISES
M EZTBABRARR R B EE
(REBELHERAITEERBEEEG)
EXVEFTE T2 MzE) 2k - ARG X
BEREETR HEHQABALHENRIEESK
EEHIEB2HNE 2 REEFE 2 ELMAZ
B EKB L) ERE LTMETAES
ETEAFRGZEETASITNEARR
MRz s MARIMT »

Number of Shares held

Fi ¥R 4 8B
Capacity/ Long Short Percentage of
Name of Directors Nature of interest position position total holding
FRAY
EEns B4 e Be KB =R 074
(Note 2)
(F$5E2)
Wang Jianging Interest in controlled 4,238,827,528 - 64.76%
corporation (Note 1)
g =9 REAEERE (D
Bao Jun Beneficial interest 45,000,000 - 0.69%
RE EmEn
Notes: fft 2% -
1. Mr. Wang Jianging was deemed interested in, and duplicated, the 1. TRBEAERBE RN BEERAFTNEE R Z

3,602,323,177 shares which Champion Ever Limited was interested, the
586,486,402 shares which Galaxy King Limited was interested, and the
50,017,949 shares which Champion Golden Limited was interested. Champion
Golden Limited is held as to 50% by Mr. Wang Jianging. Both Champion Ever
Limited and Galaxy King Limited are wholly owned by Mr. Wang Jianging.

2. The percentage holding is calculated on the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2023, i.e. 6,545,621,131 shares of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (b)
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, none of the directors of the Company had
any interests in respect of options to subscribe for the shares of
the Company under the Company’s share option scheme approved
and adopted on 4 October 2021.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the heading "Directors’ rights to
acquire shares”, none of the directors, their spouses or children
under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for shares of
the Company, or had exercised any such right during the year,
and at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than as set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements and as disclosed under the heading “Related party
transactions and other disclosures”, no transactions, arrangement
or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BREXHBEEEN R-T-=F=A=+
—H ARBZEERTIETHRABHER
ARBHAEMEEEE(RAESZMMER

FIZEXVERFT I T2 W &) 2 B fn - HERR LD
LEEEST  BEAREMNEACHERREZ

HFRMERPIFEI2RZMERAFEZER
MAzED KRR K BARE EHELT

ANEFETESFRIZBRETFRSTHE
ARBIRBRFrz2ERRRR -

EERERGZET
R-B-ZF=A=+—8 AAAEEH
ﬁmfw_?_—¢+ﬂmaem&&%
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ﬁZ%%%%EE@%ﬁ

BERGNRESEZ2ZH#

BRIEZBEBRDZEN] —HMRES
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sk EL AT o] B 88 2 ) 10 4 P9 AE f] B [ O B 5T
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EERXS RHHEHZ2HER

B ir & B TS R I REASFT 851 R (B R A
IXRGREMBE]-SHAREEN Ao
A 3 EL AT (] B 8 2 A R F AR B F ME R B
B BMEITYARBAZETERIAERE
BEAREDGCEEBRS  THHAH -

AEBRFANFILCEEZRABE
R B 15 R MY FEAS I FR -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND FEX S RIGEHERS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries had conducted RARFEE  RRAFIRAMBRRGETAT
the following transactions which constituted continuing connected G WERSIRE ETHRANEMAEEK
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing KRB 2 FHEBEZS °

Rules.

1. Supply of LNG 1.

On 31 December 2021, BN L= MR AR A7 (Guangzhou
Yuanheng Gas Co., Limited*) (“Yuanheng Gas"”), a wholly-
owned foreign enterprise established under the laws of
the PRC and an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a supply agreement (“LNG Supply
Agreement 1”) with Guizhou Province Natural Gas Co., Ltd*
(BEMAERAREBER AR ("GG Natural Gas”), a subsidiary
of Guizhou Gas Group Corporation Ltd* (& M #A & & B %
M AR AT ("Guizhou Gas”), for supply of LNG for a term
of one-year period ending 31 December 2022. Guizhou
Gas holds 50% interests in EIMNEZERIEEBFR AR
(Guizhou Huaheng Energy Investments Co., Ltd*) (“Huaheng
Energy”), a company established under the laws of the PRC
and indirectly non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
where the Company indirectly holds the remaining 50%
interests in it. Therefore, Guizhou Gas is a connected person
of the Company. As GG Natural Gas is a subsidiary of
Guizhou Gas, thus GG Natural Gas is a connected person of
the Company.

The table below sets out the aggregate of the annual cap
for the LNG Supply Agreement 1:

RIERAFEIE

R-Z-_—F+-_A=+—H  BMNT
TREERABR(TFHRR] —FHR
BAHRBEAERY ZIIEBELE I
ABARNRZEEZEMBR AL
MERARBBRAT(EMRAR]
BENRREBRGERAG(EIM
MR ZHBAR) HERERARE
EMRXARRITL—DRICR AR FE
wE(RIEXAREERZD  FH
REBE_T-_F+-A=1+—Hi1—
FoBMREBBEMEZRIRIZE
BRAR(ZE=ZRIR] —BREFREH
FERI ZABY ARRRZEEIE
2EMBRA  MARGEERFEH
BRT50% 7 RE2R)50% % o EIt - &
MRBEARRZEBEALT -BRE
MEAARBEMNRRZHB LG
IEMRAREABEARRZBEAL -

TREIJBICRARME W H 1 2FE
ERR#BEE:

Annual cap

FELR
RMB
AR®
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—_F—H—HZE
-+ RA=+—H 168,000,000

*  For identification purpose only (£ £ i% 5
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The total sales of natural gas products to GG Natural Gas
from 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022 was RMB34,563,000.

On 13 January 2023, Yuanheng Gas entered into another
supply agreement (“LNG Supply Agreement 2”) with GG
Natural Gas for supply of LNG for a term of one-year period
ending 31 December 2023.

The table below sets out the aggregate of the annual cap
for the LNG Supply Agreement 2:

E-T-__FNA—HE-ZE-__F+
“A=Zt+t—B mMEMNKAITHEEKX
RAEMIWEEE A AN RE34,563,000
7’7[10

RZZEZ_=ZF—A+=ZB ' 1=K
HEMNRARREE R RARE L
— R ERE(RIEXADHER
#2)) FHAREBE-—Z=-_=F1+=A
=+—Bl—%F-

TRENBRICRARBEHHE2ZF
B LIR4%:

Annual cap

£E LR
RMB
AR
From 14 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F—A+WHEZE
- =F+ZA=1+—H 60,000,000

The total sales of LNG to GG Natural Gas from 1 January
2023 to 31 March 2023 was RMB9,783,000.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the total sales of
natural gas products to GG Natural Gas was RMB44,346,000.

Purchase of LNG

On 31 December 2021, Huaheng Energy entered into a LNG
purchase agreement ("LNG Purchase Agreement 1) with
GG Natural Gas for purchase of LNG for a term of one-year
period ending 31 December 2022.

The table below sets out the aggregate of the annual cap
for the LNG Purchase Agreement 1:

R_E-=F—A—HE-_ZT_-_=F=
A=+—HRAEMXARBERILEX
RA K KT B ANR#9783,0007T °

HE_ZT-_=F=A=+—HILt#K
FE - MEMNRKAREERARER
K48 %8 5 A R#44,346,0007T °

BERIELXAR
R—_E-_—F+-_A=+—H E=
EELBERERAAREEMNRAR
AY—MRIERAREBEHR (R
AAREEHR) THAEZE-Z
T F+ZA=+—HIE—F -

TREJBIERARBE MR ZFE
EBR#BEE:

Annual cap
F£E LR
RMB
ARH
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 RZEZZF—F—HZE
-+ =ZHA=+—H 107,000,000
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The total purchase of natural gas products from GG Natural
Gas from 1 April 2022 to 30 June 2022 was RMB76,461,000.

On 30 June 2022, Huaheng Energy entered into another
purchase agreement (“"LNG Purchase Agreement 2") with GG
Natural Gas for purchase of LNG for a term of eleven-month
period ending 31 May 2023.

The table below sets out the aggregate of the annual cap
for the LNG Purchase Agreement 2:

RZIE-_—_FWUWA—HzE2z_ZT - —
NAZTHRAEMNRARBE 2 XA
REMBEAEANRET461,000TT °

RZZBZ_FRA=1TH EFER
HEMRARRBEBRICRARR L
S—EEBHZEDRIERARBED
#2) FHABE_Z_=Fh0A=
t—BiE+—M@EA-

TREINBRICRARBEGHR22F
B LR

Annual cap

FELR
RMB
AR
From 1 July 2022 to 31 May 2023 R-ZE_—_FtH—HB=
—E-=FAA=+—H 828,000,000

The total purchase of LNG from GG Natural Gas from 1 July
2022 to 31 March 2023 was RMB31,539,000.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the total
purchase of natural gas products from GG Natural Gas was
RMB108,000,000.

Purchase of Piped Gas

On 31 December 2021, Huaheng Energy entered into a piped
gas purchase agreement ("Piped Gas Purchase Agreement
1") with Guizhou Gas (Group) Natural Gas Branch Pipeline
Co., Ltd* (EMMR(RBE) RARXREBBRAA) ("GG
Pipeline”) for purchase of piped gas for a term of one-
year period ending 31 December 2022. As GG Pipeline is a
subsidiary of Guizhou Gas, thus GG Pipeline is a connected
person of the Company.
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The table below sets out the aggregate of the annual cap TREINEBRARBERRZIZCFR
or the revised annual cap (as the case may be) for the Piped ERSEETFELRARBERME)
Gas Purchase Agreement 1: 4a%E
Annual cap
FEEER
RMB
AR
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 W_E__F—H—HBZ%
-+ RA=+—H 829,000,000
The total purchase of piped gas from GG Pipeline from RZZEZZFWA—HEZZT-__FX
1 April 2022 to 30 June 2022 was RMB189,997,000. A=+HEEMNRREBRECZEE
RARBER/ANKR189,997,0007T -
On 30 June 2022, Huaheng Energy entered into (i) the Piped RZZEZ_Z_FXA=+tH EFF8R
Gas Purchase Agreement 2A with Guizhou Gas (Group) HESMRR(EE)CETRRAR
Renhuai City Gas Co., Lid. * (EMME(EE)CIZHMRA ﬁ{f@ﬂ(f?}”%ﬁf EDRBEX
BREMERFAD) ("GG Renhuai”) for purchase of natural gas NREINLE %W‘ﬁgﬁ,f[ﬁ% % 2A K (if)
and (ii) the Piped Gas Purchase Agreement 2B with GG HEMNRREEREHREMNRALT
Pipeline for the transport of the natural gas bought from GG EEENAARTIEBRAREE
Renhuai, for a term of eleven-month period ending 31 May WE2B FHABE_T_=F1A
2023. As GG Renhuai is a subsidiary of Guizhou Gas, thus GG =+—HLET—HEA -BREMNER
Renhuai is a connected person of the Company. These two CEAENMRERZMBAR r AtE
agreements together constitute one transaction in respect MRRCERARR ZBEEANT - EZ
of the purchase of piped gas. MOHhELRABX - EEEEEEE
RARHRS -
The table below sets out the aggregate of the annual cap TREFIEBRARBERZ2AK2B
for the Piped Gas Purchase Agreement 2A and 2B: BFE R4 :
Annual cap
EE LR
RMB
AR
From 1 July 2022 to 31 May 2023 J\E/\‘:;E: £+ HA—HBZ%
=R H=+—H 1,259,000,000
The total purchase of piped gas from GG Renhuai and R-ZE_—_F+A-BEZZT_=F
GG Pipeline from 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023 was —A=t—BREMRRCEREIM
RMB45,070,000. MREBBEEERRANBERA
X #45,070,0007T °
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the total BE-_ZT-_=F=-A=+—HIL#®
purchase of piped gas from GG Renhuai and GG Pipeline FE BEMNRRCEREMNRRE
was RMB235,067,000. EBACEBERARBERARS

235,067,0007T °
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The independent non-executive directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continued connected transactions
have been entered into by the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)  in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions set out above in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Pursuant
to Rule 14A.71(6)(b) of the Listing Rules, the Board confirms
that the auditor has issued an unqualified letter confirming in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Company above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules that:

a.  nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group have not been approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company;

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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c. nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

d.  nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group have exceeded the annual cap
as set by the Company.

There are no other connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with
the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
with respect to continuing connected transactions entered
into by the Company and the Group during the year ended
31 March 2023.

c. WHEREIBIMEMAZ=RE K
EHEASECRERERE
RHOEMEERNTEREBTE
EBRSXR5M MMM TEMAET
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following shareholders (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company whose interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company are disclosed
in the section headed "Directors’ and chief executives’ interests
and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above) had interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO:

FERREAEMATZIRGRHE
AR i HE 2R T ik B 4 5B

RZEBE-=F=A=+—H BEEHM -
BEARARBEELFRPEENEIBKREFE
2B TIRRMREXES
MEBTHABRKEGD  HBERGKE®E
BREZLAB| TR BEERRAT R
mHERNDREREPHRERZ AR
MNARBIESHEZITRABRINRAR
AR R AERERR D P A e

Number of Shares held

FRisi% i 8B

Capacity/ Long Short Percentage of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest position position total holding

FIREE

BREE S kg BE 7 B

(Note 5)

(FfF 3%5)

Champion Ever Limited Beneficial interest (Note 1) 3,602,323,177 - 55.03%
7o E B R A A B (D

Galaxy King Limited Beneficial interest (Note 2) 586,486,402 - 8.96%
Galaxy King Limited B i w (M EE2)

Cheng Xu Family interest (Note 3) 4,238,827,528 - 64.76%
(EXEN R Ik 1 2= (P 5E3)

China Construction Security interest (Note 4) 1,770,000,000 - 27.04%

Bank Corporation

PRIEREBITROBRAR  EFREE (T4

Central Huijin Investment Ltd Security interest (Note 4) 1,770,000,000 - 27.04%

TRESREEREE AR ER D F
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Notes:

1. Champion Ever Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wang Jianging.

2. Galaxy King Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wang Jianging.

3. Ms. Cheng is the spouse of Mr. Wang Jianging and is deemed interested in,

and duplicated, the interests Mr. Wang is interested in.

4. Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed, CCB International Overseas
Limited is wholly owned by CCB International (Holdings) Limited, which in turn
is wholly owned by CCB Financial Holdings Limited, which in turn is wholly
owned by CCB International Group Holdings Limited, which in turn is wholly
owned by China Construction Bank Corporation, which in turn is held as to
57.11% by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. All above interests duplicate each
other.

5. The percentage holding is calculated on the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2023, i.e. 6,545,621,131 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no person had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Bye-law 164(1) of the Company's bye-laws, the directors
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall
not extend to any matter in respect of any willful negligence, willful
default, fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any of them.
Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was
in force throughout the financial year.

The Company has purchased the directors’ liability insurance to
provide protection against claims arising from the lawful discharge
of duties by the Directors.

B
1. BEERAFBIZBELAEZEHES -
2. Galaxy King Limited H F 2% £ EHE °

3. BZIRIRBLEECRBREEERANELE
BEESZBEOTHRAERER -
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REBEERBERRATHETERERERA
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable

FREFRRMER
AEETBES R F &

to the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows: FERBHE 2B LNT
Sales SHESH %
- The largest customer -RAREP 7
— Five largest customers aggregated -AREFAE 18
Purchases REEH %
- The largest suppliers -EAEED 17
- Five largest suppliers aggregated - A RHEEEER 52

None of the directors, their associate or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the Group's five largest
suppliers or customers during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) of the
Company was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 4 October 2021
(the "SGM"). The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 654,562,113 shares, being 10% of the shares in issue
as at the date of the SGM. The total number of shares in respect
of which options are issuable under the Share Option Scheme is
654,562,113, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report. No share option has been
granted by the Company since the SGM. Details of the Company’s
Share Option Scheme and movements in share options during
the year are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company,
the directors of the Company have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Code throughout the year ended
31 March 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of
the Company upon the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
in March 2021. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been audited by
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
WANG JIANQING
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBENHES

311 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

*%"
Ro0e W
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YUAN HENG GAS HOLDINGS
LIMITED
RFRRERBERAT
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yuan
Heng Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 60 to 182, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIUBRBE®RES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the

RS &EIR
BREZFEARTOILAN R HE
BABEEAMBRASEENSE - &
ARBREEEAMERERAUIAE
REBRUSEE HARRLSEEE
BERER -

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment of goodwill

2 i

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 75.

B2HGREVBRRMTIBARESEMHE SR -

Key audit matter
REXEIR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FITHERNAEEMARERER

We identified the impairment of goodwill as a Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
key audit matter due to significant judgement goodwill included:
and estimation involved in the preparation of the A{TEBEEREZREFEHE:

discounted cash flows used in the impairment
assessment.
ATHEERERNS - HERELEE  REER
HREEFEAABBRERSRER P REXHEH XA
& o

The Group has goodwill arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries in previous years with carrying amount of
approximately RMB34,070,000 as at 31 March 2023.
The management is required to test for impairment
of goodwill at least annually by comparing the
recoverable amount and the carrying amount of the
cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which such goodwill
has been allocated as set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
RN_E_=F=A=+—HB ABEFEKRBENEA
AMELN BESEEHEREELDLRARK34070,000
TC o MRS MBHRERMT8HAE EBERELS
FETHBRENR HERBESEEAEEZR
CEABN(REELAEN)NAIKE S HEEKREE
EITHE -

Obtaining the discounted cash flow analysis of the
relevant CGU prepared by the management and
its external valuation specialist and checking its
mathematical accuracy;
EREEEREIIBEEERGRNAERSEL
BUMBRRERESNM I R H A HBEREM

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
appropriateness of the discount rate used;

REARTABGEEERFEMBBRRERNESE:

Evaluating the reasonableness of the key
assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
analysis, including growth rates, estimated average
purchase price of natural gas and average selling
price of liquefied natural gas with reference to
the historical sales volume, revenue, cost of sales,
operating expenses and future strategic plans of
the Group;
HERBRBRSRESONMPARABRERRNSE
n REL2E EEEBEEHE  Wa  HEK
K QERAXRARKBFEREENERE X
ARG FOBEBLRRIECRARFHEE:
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Impairment of goodwill

i i E

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 75.

F2HGEEVBRRMEIBARFESEME TR -

Key audit matter
HREZEIR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FITHEZRNAEEMAREXER

In determining the recoverable amount, the Group's

management assessed the value in use of the cash-
generating unit by discounting the estimated future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU to the
present value. Significant judgment and assumptions
were required in the process such as the use of

discount rates, growth rates, estimated average e

purchase price of natural gas and average selling price
of liquefied natural gas during the forecast period
as set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETAKESHEE > SEEENEREETGRSE
ABUMEREE HERSREELABURPEL
W ARREREBMRERE - MMEFEES M BHRER
MY sTapnadl - ZBREF BIELE XA RRK - 0K
REABRABEXR BREX  RARMGFTFHEE
BRBRICRARFHEE -

The management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would
not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to which
such goodwill has been allocated to exceed its
recoverable amount. During the year ended 31 March
2023, no impairment loss on goodwill is recognised.
EREERREAZERRZ2EMSEALEHK IS
BYESRAARE R ELABUNREEBRLE
AREEHE REE-_T-_=F=-A=1+—ALFE"
HMEREEEIEFREESE -
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Testing data inputs in the discounted cash
flow analysis, on a sample basis, against source
documents; and

R BEIRIR € R E D BB B A BUR B BRR U
ETHERAS R

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow analysis made by management by
comparing the historical analysis made against the
actual performance of the Group.
FRLBMERESTE SEXEEBRXRR T
ERERAEMERRRSRESNTOEREIE -
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Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 FE W AR =R {E

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 94 to 100.

E2RRA VB RRM E24A R FIAEI00E FTE & 5T K o

Key audit matter
REZEIR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FTWERNAERMAREXRSEE

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the trade
receivables to the consolidated financial statements
and significant judgment and estimates involved
by the management in the impairment assessment
process.

RITHE S RWESORERR A —ARREZEE
REAREZRUEREEAMBHRRNEZE - MA
Eiﬁfﬁ?ﬁﬁi@ﬁﬂfﬂiﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁf’EHjEK‘#JEﬁEUE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivables using expected credit loss
("ECL") model in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. Under the model, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL individually for debtors with significant
balances or that are credit impaired and/or collectively
for the remaining debtors based on their past due
status. The management takes into consideration,
inter alia, the historical default rates, past due status,
general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forward-looking information specific to the
debtors.

BRI BERRMTATRE - BEEEREEFE
MRS ERFIReR T ATABEREEER(RE
HEEBRDEAGAESRURRNEERE - R
EzER BEEERAEEEALEHRIEERENE
BAEBERZBEMBEEBE R AREBKBEBEA
BRERBPHANEBER2ARBEEFE - - ERE
ZE(HEPEF)BEEREOX BB R  BBEAENR
AEHBEAHRNZRARMEBEARFEOREIEE
o T o

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

ATERBEIRUEFBREN B ZEFERE:

Understanding the key controls on how the loss
allowance for trade receivables is estimated by the

management;
THREEBNAMGSESEKERERRENRR
B

Understanding how the aging analysis of trade
receivables is prepared by the management;

THRERBNWREESEKRRERE DT

Testing the accuracy of the aging analysis of the
trade receivables to the sales invoices, on a sample
basis;
BEHEHEZZMEANAZIRREFNERDTH
AEREME

Evaluating the management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 March 2023, including their
identification of trade receivables with significant
balances or that are credit impaired, the
reasonableness of management’s grouping of the
remaining trade debtors into different categories in
the provision matrix;

T EEREEBETRN-_ZT_=F=-A=+—RHEZRE
WEREEBEERERNEERHE  2EB5&
HREASCEERENEZREER - EEERER
TRERRSREBERERPNTERMNNSEE:
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Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 FE W AR =R {E

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 94 to 100.

E2RRA VB RRM E24A R FIAEI00E & & 5T K o

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAREXEIR FTWERNAERMAREXRSEE

The Group had trade receivables with carrying e
amount of approximately RMB1,399,906,000 (net of
the allowance for credit losses of approximately
RMB12,786,000) as at 31 March 2023.
RZZE_=F=A=+—H X E5ENEZEZEREKE
KEREE L B A R%1,399906,000T (EMBREEERE
BB 1 A R #12,786,0007T) °
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Evaluating the basis of estimated loss rates applied
in each debtor with significant balances or that
are credit impaired (with reference to the external
credit rating, historical default rates, past due
status, current conditions at the reporting date and
forward-looking information);
FELEBEANCEERENSHEEWERERATER
MEFTEEENEERZILEETR BEE
HWE - mEAOR C RREBEMNE R & AT IE
A&

Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness
of historical default rates, past due status, current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forward-looking information specific to the debtors
used in determining estimated loss rates applied in
each category in the provision matrix in calculation
of the loss allowance; and

T EETEERGBAERBRERETZARIMEKAMG
AEERXAEANBERNE BN NEBE
HHWERNRRMEBARENABEERNSE
MEREENE R

Testing subsequent settlements of trade
receivables with significant balances or that are
credit impaired, on a sample basis, to source
documents.

REEEE  HREXHAAERERNKEEER
ENEZRBERERENBR -
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Impairment assessment of the CGU related to piped gas segment (“piped gas CGU")
EEXARSBHEARGSELBEM((EEXARBEELEM)ZRBHENMG

Refer to notes 16, 17 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 88

to 90.

A2HEE VWK E16 - B E17R M 1900 R FE8BEOE T &L & 5T UK o

Key audit matter
FAREXEIR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FITHERNAEEMAREXER

We identified the impairment assessment of
piped gas CGU as a key audit matter due to
significant judgment and estimation involved by the
management in the impairment assessment and the
size of impairment losses recognised during the
year was significant to the consolidated financial
statements.
AIREBRARRSELEM 2 MEFEHA R —
PRAREZEE RARRNBEFRGERIRHEREE
EHBEAAGEG  BEFAERNBEBRSRY
HEMBRAMSBERK -

The management performed the impairment
assessment with support from its external valuation
specialist, and determines the recoverable amount of
piped gas CGU.
EREBEIIBEEMAO T NETREN G LETE
EERARRACELBEUMATROSHE -

As a result of impairment assessment, the Group
recognised impairment for the property, plant and
equipment and intangible asset of RMB144,869,000
and RMB5,808,000 respectively during the year ended
31 March 2023.

HRBEMNGE BEERBEE_T_=F=A=+
—BUEFEDRRYE  BERKREANETEER
RO ME A R #144,869,0007T & A R ¥5,808,0007T °

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
piped gas CGU included:
ATEBEBRARREELEMRENHZEFRHE:

Understanding the impairment triggering events
through discussions with the management and
the external valuation specialist and corroborated
management’s assessment with supporting
evidence;
FREEEERIIEEMS R EAZEEEERE
Bt THRERHBREZEMH:

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology;

EEATHABEEERFEBEDNEZEEL:

Evaluating the reasonableness of the key
assumptions adopted in determining the fair value
less costs of disposal; and
FAEEEAFERHNERANARAZEIEREZAE
B R

Checking the mathematical
impairment made.

mMEMERENHBBEREE -

accuracy of the
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

BRI EXGEEMBRRAR
BZEE

ATHERRAERRGAEMBHRRER
EETFEHRKFAERMETNER
AR PR - I B E A ATE R AR B
BEE ZREDRBAREDQFEFO
BRAITHENERGERER BTHER
EE)FEML EEMBE - AT A AR
SORBTREMEMALTEERALREE -
BERERBKRKFHRE  HEILTREZIR
BEEBRAENETHBRRARRRAE
FEHE KRR o §85R BRL AT BE b KR
SEERMEL  MEMEBNBEANSER
HEFEERERBEASRAMBERIE
HEEIERTE  BIREREKX °
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BRI  WAREABBRST B
BEEHAERE AT

o EURIANEY fh A PO BRAF S B R T B AR
EUMBRRFEEAHERRANE
B RATMATERREFARSZSE
B - A MBS TE R MGE E B E OB
& ERATERNER - ARG
AREPLER BE BERER E
BERd - ERBRAMEEZ L B
BERBEERRAMFMERMEAHR
RAWEBSREERMERNEX
R R

s THEFZHEBMAMER AR
HENBEZRER BENYFYH &
SEABEZHRBERER -

e B BERFEEMERASIBEN
REMERAIEL G AT MMAARA B E
EHONEEK-

TTFARIERER AT 2023 F3R 57



Independent Auditor’s Report
BUBRBE®RES

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company's
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044
Hong Kong

30 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FmERERHEMEETARSE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_ZT_=-"F=-A=1+—HLLFE

2023 2022
—®== —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETR AR®ET T
Gross amounts from operations e kG 7,446,796 7.902,036
Gross amounts of oil and gas Al R RAREE
sales contracts BHBER 5,500,617 5,527,637
Gross amounts of oil and gas ABHRERAREE
purchase contracts BHBE (5,415,994) (5,453,305)
Other revenue H b W 2= 5 1,946,179 2,374,399
2,030,802 2,448,731
Cost of sales and services 55 & & AR 75 BX AN (1,779.107) (2,146,951)
Gross profit EX 251,695 301,780
Other income H b g A 6 2,942 3,074
Other gains and losses H b U 75 & &5 18 7 53,817 (18,465)
(Impairment loss) reversal of impairment FBHi{E E & EE = TH
loss under expected credit loss OREER) REEE
model, net B - HE 8 (1,310) 8,927
Impairment loss of property, plant and ¥ % * BB K& &E 2
equipment VERIEW SR 16 (144,869) -
Impairment loss of intangible asset BVEEZREEBRE 19 (5,808) -
Distribution and selling expenses DHEREERY (12,179) (13,662)
Administrative expenses TR X (85,882) (83,660)
Share of results of associates J& 1 Bt &= A A 10,171 1,466
Finance costs & A 9 (75,106) (77,605)
(Loss) profit before tax B %Al (B518) & A (6,529) 121,855
Income tax expense Fris A 10 (21,738) (26,150)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE)m 1 (28,267) 95,705
Other comprehensive (expense) income E fth 2 & (F 2 ) Ug A
Item that may be reclassified HEKAEET R
subsequently to profit or loss: BmmEE
Exchange differences arising on BREBINRBELERN
translation of foreign operations E & =% (1,251) 603
Other comprehensive (expense) FANHME2E )
income for the year WA (1,251) 603
Total comprehensive (expense) income FAZMH (X)W A
for the year 4B (29,518) 96,308
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GEREEmRHEMEEBARSE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z_=F=A=+—BLLFE

-~

2023 2022
—EZ=%F —E-—F
NOTE RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B E ARBTR AR¥EFTT
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: AT AT EIEFA
(E18) & A
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIEZ F SN 27,385 64,391
Non-controlling interests JEIE MG #E = (55,652) 31,314
(28,267) 95,705
Total comprehensive (expense) income A TATEMGEZE
attributable to: (FASZ) W A 48 %8 -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ Z SN 26,134 64,994
Non-controlling interests JEIE IR (55,652) 31,314
(29,518) 96,308
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREBN(ARED) 15
- Basic — &R 0.42 098
~ Diluted — 8% 0.42 098
TEMARRERAT 2023 8 61°
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B B 35 R 5 #R R

At 31 March 2023
RZFEZ=F=HA=+—8

2023 2022
—®'-= —EF-=
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
M 5 ARETR AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BRE XK 16 415,601 590,749
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 17 33,809 36,027
Gooduwill Bk 18 34,070 34,070
Intangible asset ERAE 19 - 6,201
Interests in associates Y RN B e 20 133,613 123,442
Derivative financial instrument TESRmIA 20 2,500 2,500
Long-term receivable EHEFEW/TA 21 = =
Deferred tax assets i JE TR I,E\éfF 22 298 633
619,891 793,622
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Inventories B 23 22,000 18,754
Trade and other receivables fﬁ%&ﬁﬂw’é%@ﬁk 24 2,763,702 2,387,470
Contract assets EHEE 25 78 4,283
Amount due from an associate FEHQ—Fﬁ FR/NC] E 26 380 380
Amount due from a non-controlling EY—FHHMEB AR —%
equity owner of a subsidiary RS TER A IR 27 1,204 1,204
Financial asset at fair value through ERAFEGFAERED
profit or loss SHMEE 28 6,517 6,346
Tax recoverable A] [B] 4 75 38 5,932 5,123
Pledged bank deposits EEARITFER 29 315,578 94,036
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRE 29 71,662 123,337
3,187,053 2,640,933
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade payables and other liabilities BHRMNERREMARE 30 859,386 545,817
Contract liabilities SRBE 31 84,786 46,515
Amounts due to associates X R SNGIE /] 32 142 95,835
Tax payable JE 15 i 18 86,454 93,138
Bank borrowings due within one year # — % R E| H &9
RITEE 33 1,119,410 885,340
Lease liabilities HEBE 34 710 833
Guaranteed notes ERER 35 9,870 177,628
2,160,758 1,845,106
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFH 1,026,295 795,827
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAMR
LIABILITIES 1,646,186 1,589,449
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A B IS KON ER R

At 31 March 2023
R—E-_=%=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E',-= —E-=
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
M &% ARBFT AREF T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERGEE
Share capital [N 36 551,378 551,378
Reserves it 842,584 815,260
Equity attributable to owners RAGIHER ARG ER
of the Company 1,393,962 1,366,638
Non-controlling interests FEE IR HE 93,370 150,812
TOTAL EQUITY s 1,487,332 1,517,450
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERSHER
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIHEE 22 11,153 13,897
Bank borrowings due after one year R —F &I HHRITEE 33 = 57,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 34 516 1,102
Guaranteed notes ERERE 35 147,185 -
158,854 71,999
1,646,186 1,589,449

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 182 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30
June 2023 and are signed by:

FOEEFINBEZGBAVMBERRERZ
TEEARNA-THEEEeHEREET
T CUWAHTNEEREE:

Wang Jianqing
TEE
DIRECTOR
EF

Bao Jun

RE
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEESBEHRRK

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z_=F=A=+—BLLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATRANES
(Accumulated
Statutory loss)/ Non-
Share Share Other surplus  Designated Translation Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve  salary fund reserve earnings  Sub-total interests Total
EE 25 (RitBE)/

K& RHRE HeHEE BHEE 0 x2E:  RERE REEA Mt EEBRER @t

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARET:R ARBTT ARBTT AREFT ARETR
(note a) (note b) (note ¢

(M2 (WD) (Hf3Ec)

At 1 April 2021 RZZ=-5MA—-A 551,378 4466908 (3,775,606) 76,539 44,350 (7,088) (54,837) 1,301,644 119,498 1,421,142
Profit for the year FREF - - = = = = 64,391 64,391 31,314 95,705
Other comprehensive income EREMBZERA

for the year = = = = = 603 = 603 = 603
Total comprehensive income for the year M2 EMALE = = = = = 603 64,391 64994 31,314 96,308
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve HBRZATRABEE - = = 3,356 = = (3,356) = = =
Transfer to designated safety fund BREZER2ES S = = = 5,234 = (5,234) = = =

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 W=F-=§=A=1-B

R-F--#WA-H 551,378 4466908 (3775606) 79,895 49,584 (6,485) 964 1,366,638 150,812 1,517,450

Profit (loss) for the year FRERN(BR) = = = - - - 27,385 27,385 (55,652)  (28,267)
Other comprehensive expense FREMZERR

for the year - - - - - (1,251) - (1,251) - (1,251)

Total comprehensive (expense) income  FR2HE (Fx%) WA L5
Eftroa - - - - - ) 27385 26134 (55652)  (29,518)

Change in ownership in interest in R-ERBAR 2 HHE

a subsidiary (note 43) Ea2(e3) - - - - - - 1,190 1,190 (1,790) (600)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve AR AT RHBEE - - - 20,653 - - (20,653) - - -
Transfer to designated safety fund BRATEETRED - - - - (1,641) - 1,641 - - -
At 31 March 2023 W-E-ZFZA=1-H 551,378 4,466,908 (3,775,6006) 100,548 47,943 (7,736) 10,527 1,393,962 93,370 1,487,332
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GAESETRE

o o =]

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

Notes:

Other reserve of the Group mainly represents (i) the financial impact of
adopting merger accounting for the acquisition of Union Honor Limited
("UHL") and its subsidiaries; and (ii) a debit arising from the deemed
distribution to shareholder which represents the cash consideration of the
acquisition of UHL of Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") 70,000,000 (equivalent to
Renminbi ("RMB") 55,595,000) paid to the vendor during the year ended 31
March 2014.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") and the Articles of Association of certain subsidiaries of
the Company, they are required to provide for PRC statutory reserves, by way
of appropriations from their respective statutory net profit (based on their
PRC statutory financial statements) but before dividend distributions. They
are required to transfer 10% of the profit after tax to the statutory reserves.
The appropriation to the statutory surplus reserve may cease if the balance
of the statutory surplus reserve has reached 50% of the registered capital of
the relevant companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make
up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital
by means of a capitalisation issue. However, when converting the statutory
surplus reserve into capital, the remaining balance of such reserve must not
be less than 25% of the registered capital of the relevant companies.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulation, certain subsidiaries are required
to transfer a certain percentage based on a progressive rate on revenue
generated from manufacturing and transportation of gas or other dangerous
chemicals into a designated fund. The fund will be used for installation and
repair and maintenance of safety facilities. The movement during the year
represents the difference between the amounts provided based on the
relevant PRC regulation and the amount utilised during the year.

i

TTEMRIZEBRARAE 2023 F3§

AEEzEMFHEEZEREONRKRBEBREERA
AI(HEDREBARIMEMEHEEZ
MHEE RNEREARRZDIRE S 2B
BEREE_ZT-—NE=ZA=+—RHLEEK
FEHE SRR B X T & 7 23 € A (870,000,000
(B THEERARE ([ AR]) 55,595,000

7)) ©

RIBFREARKANE (FHE D BEEREER A
RARRETHWBARZEAHKERRZAA  BF
ARBBREREREAMNEE RN (REREW
RBUEE BB R AT E) RS 2 Ik AT Z R BDE
SRR B - EABKRBR RN M10%
BREREMRE EACTARBRBREDEMN
B R R 5L A & 7K B950% B AT 4 L [R5 T &L #4 b
BEN - AERBFEETANBHAEFEE
BE)  LAIRABAMEBETZARNEARES
B o RN AREAEBRFEERERELS
MBI SLRNBERREMEARZ25% °

REBETFEZER BETHEARARRER
BRAARREMERECERELENRE RS
BE-FEALBREEZEES - ZESHAR
RERBZLREREENEE - FREFHIER
BHEBTERAARE . CREFTACHAESE
ZER -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z_=F=A=+—BLLFE

2023 2022
—®'Z= —F-=
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBFT
Operating activities HEEH
(Loss) profit before tax BB An (E518) & 7 (6,529) 121,855
Adjustments for: ST EIE L R
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - BEL&ZEZITE 62,953 59,909
Amortisation of intangible asset B EE CHH 393 393
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 2,480 2,320
Gain on early termination of leases AR LR E 2 W= - (26)
Exchange difference E K =% 52,551 (39,950)
Finance costs & B A 75,106 77,605
Interest income M EM A (1,460) (1,462)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME BERZHEZ
plant and equipment (Kz=)EE (47) 52
Gain on fair value changes of financial assets &ZAFEFAER Z TR
at fair value through profit or loss BEATEEY 2K (171) (255)
Gain on deemed partial disposal of RIEEH HE —MEEE Q7]
an associate 2 Uz - (5,212)
Government grant BT 18 B (630) (788)
Share of results of associates JE(EB & N A 2 % E (10,171) (1,466)
Impairment loss of property, plant and YE BELE&EZ
equipment BEB#E 144,869 =
Impairment loss of intangible asset BREEEZREBRE 5,808 =
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) BHEEBEEX T ZRE
under expected credit loss model, net EECHEEERERD) -
b=
— trade and other receivables — B 5 & E A fE UL BR 3 1,310 (8,927)
Operating cash flows before movements in HEESE T
working capital KEHEne 326,462 204,048
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEMm RS (3,246) 1,389
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEE R (L) 4,205 (2,148)
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 & H th & Uk BR Fx (28 n)
other receivables kA (435,893) 235,113
Increase (decrease) in trade payables and B REMNRR R EMEEEM
other liabilities O ) 313,554 (192,718)
Increase in contract liabilities B X EE 38,271 12,123
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to JE 1< B = X B R IE O 4) 320
associates (95,693) 50,582
Cash generated from operations KEMBRE 147,660 308,389
Income tax paid BEFEH (31,640) (32,025)
Net cash from operating activities KEEB TSI S F 5 116,020 276,364
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEBHERE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_ZT_=-"F=-A=1+—HLLFE

2023 2022
—¥=-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT
Investing activities BEFH
Placement of pledged bank deposits FAB BT EITHER (882,757) (591,280)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME BEREHE (32,760) (32,746)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWZE  BEKE&EZ
equipment Ffr 1% 5018 133 482
Interest received B U 2 1,460 1,462
Proceeds on disposal of financial asset at HERAFEFABRZZ
fair value through profit or loss EMEEMSHIE = 1,940
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits IR E HE AR T?—?n 661,215 584,535
Net cash used in investing activities KBRS EE & 55 (252,709) (35,607)
Financing activities RLEEH
New bank borrowings raised BEEEMIEETEE 1,830,290 2,036,420
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEEAE (971) (783)
Redemption of guaranteed notes BEOEREER (17,797) (25,424)
Interest paid EAAE (72,667) (80,350)
Government grants received 2 W T 7 B 630 788
Repayments of bank borrowings EBRFETEE (1,653,220) (2,094,515)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities MEEHE (A ZRE
e 86,265 (163,864)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and HE&RBEE&£EEEBRZ
cash equivalents (I8 2>) & I % &8 (50,424) 76,893
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning REHZRERIALEEIER
of the year 123,337 45,841
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExggHzre (1,251) 603
Cash and cash equivalents at the end RERZI|ERINEEFEHIEE
of the year 71,662 123,337
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial

aE B 3% R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_Z_=F=A=+—HILFE

68

F_<=_

GENERAL

Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (the "Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “"Group”)
is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
corporate information section in the annual report.

The immediate holding company and ultimate holding
company of the Company was Champion Ever Limited
(“Champion Ever”), which is a limited liability company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and wholly-owned
by Mr. Wang Jianging (“Mr. Wang”), the chairman and a
director of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in trading of oil and gas
contracts, production and sale of liquefied natural gas
(“"LNG"), sales of vehicle gas at refuelling station, sales of
piped gas, LNG transportation and construction of gas
pipeline infrastructure.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") which is also the presentation currency of
the Company.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash,
bank borrowings due within one year and current portion
of guaranteed notes of approximately RMB71,662,000,
RMB1,119,410,000 and RMB9,870,000 respectively. Based on
the estimation of the future cash flows of the Group, after
taking into account of (i) net cash inflows from operating
activities; (ii) the ability to renew the current bank loans
upon expiry because of the Group's good track records
and relationship with the banks, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its normal operation for the twelve months from
the end of the reporting period of these consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IEHmRMEE

Fo
#H

r the year ended 31 March 2023
ET-=F=-A=1t—HLHFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") which are
effective for the Group's financial year beginning 1 April
2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
Before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

FER =] REETEEME
REFA(EEMBREE
U

AEERANEFEERERUATELES
A Ag((EEGREAE]) B M
RETEEVBHREENTE BB
WEEL]) RAKEE-_FT=-—

7 A — B EY B B AR

BEPBREEL HSERZEMR
EIFZER
BB BT ER ME - BER
F165% 2 1EFT R R RS
TE R A2 P
(ER ]
FEEGTER BEAHN-ETT
FI7HZAER] BHZ A
FEREYHRE FEREYHRE

ARl Z{&FT] FERH —FE— N\
FE_ET-F
FRAZFE
25

RAFERBEEIINEEVHRE
ERHAKERAHRE KB E AR
FBRBEEMAR HZEHEHB
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts'
the October 2020

and February 2022

amendments to

HKFRS 17)

FER =] REETEEME
REFA(EEMBREE
211 (&)

EEMEEREHRZHITRE
BT EEMBHREED

7 5 3 4 % 2 8 DA T B A4 18 1
KR RGBS B BRI RS
g

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IEHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_ZT_=-"F=-A=1+—HLLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRS(s)") (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

FER =] REETEEME
REFA(EEMBREE
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5] & & B B 4R 5 2 A (4)

R-E_=F—HA-BREERENFE
HiR AR e

2 R-E-_NFE-A-BRERBBOF
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

J the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

J potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

The Group's policy for goodwill relating to the acquisition of
an associate is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group's share of losses
of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, which forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group's ownership interest in an associate is
reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest is reclassified
to profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

J Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

J Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price
o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

of the goods or

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

J the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

J the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with  HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation in relation to the LNG transportation service is
measured based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation in relation to the construction of gas pipeline
infrastructure is measured based on input method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services
to be provided by the other party.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract or
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. The
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined
as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option)
and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets
are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments
are discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o the exercise price of purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs
an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the related
right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-
of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary

items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which
the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose (other than construction in
progress as described below). Property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Plant and machinery in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management, including
cost of testing whether the related assets are functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building
When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset acquired separately

Intangible asset with finite useful lives that is acquired
separately is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible asset with finite useful life is recognised on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible asset (Continued)

Intangible asset acquired in a business combination
Intangible asset acquired in a business combination
is recognised separately from goodwill and is initially
recognised at its fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as its cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible asset acquired
in a business combination with finite useful life is reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that is acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use asset and intangible asset other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use asset and intangible asset with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use asset and intangible asset are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use asset and intangible asset other
than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are also allocated to relevant cash-generating units,
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The Group
assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets
may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use asset and intangible asset other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value of inventories
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and
demand deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents
are short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

J on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

J it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.

(i)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to retained

profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the

other income line item in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

(i)~ Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables, long-term receivable, amount
due from an associate, amount due from a non-controlling
equity owner of a subsidiary, amount due from a related
party, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash),
and other items (contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are made based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers and
The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances or that are
credit impaired and/or collectively using a provision matrix
based on the past due status of the remaining debtors.

contract assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(Continued)

For all other instruments,

the Group measures the loss

allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument's external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

g

25t B R (&)

2RI R(R)
TR EE (%)
TREEREVEEZ HEE)

BRAEHRMERTE  NEEZA
FRT_EARBEEER 2
EBEREE BRIFBVHEERREE
[\ f KB4 00 - B AN SR B e AR 2 HA TR
HEERE FHEOEEREHE
HMEEERIREA VS ERIARAN
BHEENZAIREIE S EARKIEEN -
(i) EEERAREE
EEENGERAREER
BAEDAEEMNE  ARESLH
REEREAHemIAZLE
EHRBREBEYER A
TRMTIAZLEZORR - HR
SERHE - NEEEE A E MRS

CERREMAR  REBE
BB mEN T YLERAR

BHAAEBZAEEER -

LER &FEEERRES
BERZNE  BEBATER:

e TRTASNFUHA)XA
MERAR2ERLEY
mER:

. NBTHERARKRE
EB MEHBE &
1A M5 R 4038 R AR A
LEPIE

. £ MBS E GG
fﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁﬂu”jfﬁz_fuﬁib
REEEES ABERED
j(mEElTﬁ‘*'

c BREARL S EHIRER
B IR B E RS AL

TTFARIERER AT 2023 F3R 95



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
e

Bt 7% 3R R B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

&

s

96

BEEE

=F=A=t—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impai

(Cont
(i)

rment of financial assets and contract assets

inued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet
its debt obligations.

in a

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impai

(Cont
(iv)

rment of financial assets and contract assets

inued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
expected losses is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that
it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by
adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the
cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
o Past due status and ageing status; and
° Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost of
the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

(Continued)

(v}  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amounts, with the exception of trade receivables,
contract assets and dividend receivable, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All financial

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Modlification of financial liabilities

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit
or loss at the date of modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives, including contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items that can be settled net in cash or another financial
instrument unless such contracts were entered into and
continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery
of the relevant non-financial items in accordance with the
Group's expected purchase or sale requirements, are initially
recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts
are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Ownership of the buildings and land

As disclosed in notes 16 and 17, there are properties
and land located in the PRC of which the Group is in the
process of obtaining the ownership certificate. Despite the
fact that the Group has not obtained the relevant legal
title, the directors of the Company determine to recognise
these buildings and lands on the ground that there is no
legal barrier or otherwise for the Group to obtain such
title ownership certificates and the Group is in substance
controlling these lands and buildings. In the opinion of the
directors of Company, the absence of formal title to these
lands and buildings does not impair the value of the relevant
assets to the Group.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of goodwil

The carrying value of goodwill at 31 March 2023 amounted
to RMB34,070,000 (2022: RMB34,070,000). The Group is
required to carry out an impairment assessment of goodwill
at least annually or when there is indication that the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated
may be impaired. In determining the recoverable amount, the
Group assesses the value in use of the cash-generating unit
to which the goodwill has been allocated by discounting their
estimated future cash flows to the present value. Significant
judgment and assumptions were required in the process such
as the use of discount rates, growth rates, estimated average
purchase price of natural gas and average selling price of
LNG during the forecast period. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

4.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances or that are credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
remaining trade receivables based on the past due status of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs
or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables are disclosed in note 41 and 24,
respectively. As at 31 March 2023, the trade receivables is
approximately RMB1,399,906,000 (2022: RMB1,228,207,000),
net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
RMB12,786,000 (2022: RMB11,476,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made. In addition,
the realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in future. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are less than expected, a
material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
such a reversal takes place. The carrying amount of deferred
tax asset is detailed in note 22.

Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

4.

P E AT H T R A 5T A E
2z = B R(])

st R i E Mz EERKIF ()

E 5 W IR AR E
BAREERBHRIEEREZESER

B 3R 1B B AT 5 TR 5 RS 1B o Ut
Sh - A (P B A BT R
SEBERNBREEER  £2A
B 18 0085 18 1L ¢ 7R R 5 7 A 2 50
R o BRI E 0B R 40
ST LT T LTI SR e
%5 0 B0 19 2 & 12 KT $E 40 A1 B 1
ARFEE - RERERS A%
& 5T 5 0B (TR M KL S
HAEEERNED -

EHEEEERGEIX G EDY
2. FlEEMHEEBERTNEENE
5 e WL BR R B9 & B Bl B BT 5241 &2 24
WE N TE-_=F=-A=1+—H &
5 FEULER 2 40 B A R #51,399,906,000
T(ZZT = —F: AR #1,228,207,000
L) BRTREBEFENAEARE
12,786,000(Z T = —F: A R ¥
11,476,0007T) °

Frig®i
AEBBEZERAREMAME
B REEMSHBERAFEHEX
HlE - HZREFFENRERIAGRAE
LN EELR - B HEEEK
FEFLNTEENREARZ ISR
EEFMBREERAE - I EE
MEEERGERIZIORNARRE
BRERARK G N ERRE K EHE
AHBA - WMARERESE 2 END
REH - AlE XERORETEHAE
EGUEZFLEEHEBACNMBARIE
wnER - FRAECHEAEEEREELZ
AHBERME22



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IEHmRMEE

o o =]

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z_=F=A=+—BLLFE

F_<=_

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment assessment of the cash-
generating unit related to piped gas segment (“Piped
gas CGU")

In determining where the property, plant and equipment,
intangible asset and right-of-use asset are impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of piped gas
CGU to which the relevant assets have been allocated. The
recoverable amount of piped gas CGU has been determined
based on the higher of value-in-use calculation or fair value
less costs of disposal. These calculations require the use
of judgements and estimates. Management judgement
is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in
assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable; (ii)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and net present value of future cash flows
expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating
unit and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount rates or
the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group's financial
condition and results of operations. As at 31 March 2023,
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use asset and intangible asset attributable to the
piped gas CGU are approximately RMB53,628,000 (2022:
RMB190,088,000), RMB2,699,000 (2022: RMB3,045,000) and
nil (2022: RMB6,201,000) respectively, net of accumulated
impairment losses of approximately RMB144,869,000 (2022:
nil), nil (2022: nil) and RMB5,808,000 (2022: nil) respectively.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use asset, and intangible asset are disclosed in notes
16, 17 and 19 respectively.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE 5. S #p&H R
Information reported to the Group's executive directors, MARERTESF(ANETELEERSE
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the FE(E2LERRE])ZHMUMEER
purpos